## FILED



# NO. 92866-5

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD C. RASHOFF, and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondents/Petitioners.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MICHAEL P. LYNCH WSBA No. 10913 STEVE PUZ WSBA No. 17407 Senior Counsel P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID No. 91023

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This suit arises from a collision at the intersection of State Route 12 (SR 12) and Williams Street in Mossyrock, Washington. Plaintiff Ben Lamotte drove from the Williams Street stop sign directly in front of a clearly visible, fast-approaching 26,000 pound log truck. Plaintiffs contend that DOT breached the standard of care because it did not install a traffic signal at the intersection prior to the collision.

The superior court properly granted summary judgment because under well-established engineering practices, a traffic signal can only be installed at an intersection that satisfies at least one of the mandatory, nondiscretionary criteria (which are called "signal warrants") in the Manual of Uniform Control Devices (MUTCD). These signal warrants are the product of more than five decades of research and highway experience; it is the engineering standard used by every transportation agency in the United States. And, critical to the summary judgment ruling below, RCW 47.36.020 directs DOT to comply with the MUTCD signal warrant requirements before installing a signal. The signal warrant criteria are mandatory because it is undisputed that the installation of a traffic signal at an intersection that does not satisfy any of the signal warrants increases the risk of crashes at that site—it makes the intersection less safe. CP at 125, 533, 593. The trial court properly granted summary judgment because the undisputed evidence established that none of the signal

warrants were met prior to plaintiffs' accident. Therefore, DOT's decision not to put in a signal at the intersection could not have been negligent because installing a signal under the circumstances shown by the summary judgment record would have been unlawful.

The Court of Appeals misunderstood the record and thus misapplied the MUTCD signal warrant criteria to reach the erroneous conclusion that a genuine dispute of fact existed as to whether two of the signal warrant criteria had been met. *Rashoff*, slip op. at 11. But there is no genuine issue of material fact.

This Petition, however, is not about correcting a Court of Appeals' error that reversed and remanded a summary judgment. Rather, it is about the fundamental flaw in the Court of Appeals analysis. Specifically, the ruling misanalyses the breach of duty question and suggests that DOT must violate the standard of care (mandatory signal warrant criteria) in order to comply with a totality of circumstances analysis. If not corrected, this approach could lead to holding DOT liable for failing to install a traffic signal at an intersection when undisputed engineering standards indicate that doing so would likely increase the number of crashes and make the intersection less safe, and violate the MUTCD and RCW 47.36.020.

This ruling puts DOT in an untenable position. It can face potential liability for complying with the nondiscretionary engineering standards as mandated by statute, or under the opinion below, face a "totality" examination that contradicts its statutory duty and knowingly makes an intersection less safe by installing a traffic signal where the MUTCD signal warrants are not met.

This Court should grant review. The Court of Appeals error and its reasoning undermines the legal mandate of the Legislature that directs DOT's compliance with accepted engineering standards in order to keep roads safe.

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is the State of Washington, Department of Transportation.

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

DOT seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, in *Rashoff v. State*, No. 45919-1-II, 2015 WL 6440967. (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 20, 2015) (unpublished). The State's motion for reconsideration was denied on January 8, 2016. The slip opinion and order denying motion for reconsideration are in Appendix (App.) at 1-2.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the superior court properly grant summary judgment where (i) the mandatory, nondiscretionary MUTCD signal warrant criteria

were not met and therefore the installation of a traffic signal was prohibited by RCW 47.36.020; and (ii) it is undisputed that installation of a traffic signal where none of the signal warrants are met increases the likelihood of crashes at that intersection?

2. Can a totality of circumstances analysis be a basis for highway design liability when the negligence theory is based upon the failure to install a traffic signal and the installation of a traffic signal was prohibited by mandatory, nondiscretionary provisions of the MUTCD and RCW 47.36.020?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The intersection of SR 12 and Williams Street consists of one eastbound and one westbound lane, with left turn lanes in both directions. Overhead flashing yellow lights caution drivers traveling on SR 12 of the intersection with Williams Street. CP at 204-05. Overhead flashing red lights and posted stop signs tell drivers on Williams Street to stop and yield the right-of-way to traffic on SR 12. CP at 215. In addition, DOT attached "CROSS-TRAFFIC DOES NOT STOP" signs to the stop signs emphasizing the need for Williams Street traffic to yield the right of way to vehicles traveling on SR 12. CP at 204-06.

As a 19-year-old resident of Mossyrock, plaintiff Benjamin Lamotte was familiar with the intersection, and drove through it almost daily. On December 8, 2009, Mr. Lamotte drove north on Williams Street

in his Ford F-150 pick-up truck and stopped at the intersection with SR 12. Mr. Lamotte had an unobstructed view of more than 2,000 feet looking at the vehicles approaching from the east. CP at 187.

Mr. Steen, who was in his 1997 purple Peterbilt log truck, drove towards the intersection from the east on SR 12. CP at 283-84. His empty log trailer rested on the truck's bunk assembly. CP at 194. As Mr. Steen approached the intersection he saw Mr. Lamotte's pick-up truck stop at the Williams Street stop sign. Mr. Steen initially reported that Mr. Lamotte suddenly accelerated from the stop sign directly into his westbound lane. Mr. Steen later indicated that Mr. Lamotte initially pulled into the closer, eastbound lane of SR 12 and stopped. Mr. Steen concluded that Mr. Lamotte saw his log truck and planned to remain stopped in the eastbound lane until his log truck cleared the westbound lane of the intersection. CP at 280-81. Tragically, and for reasons that remain unknown, Mr. Lamotte did not wait.

Without warning, and with Mr. Steen less than 300 feet from the intersection, Mr. Lamotte pulled directly in front of the log truck. CP at 199-200, 238-39. Mr. Steen had no time to stop and his log truck struck

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> DOT's expert, Nathan Rose, an accredited traffic reconstruction expert separately analyzed both descriptions of the accident. He concluded that Mr. Lamotte caused the collision by either entering the intersection when it was unsafe to do so or failing to fully utilize the acceleration capacities of his pick-up truck as he travelled through the intersection. Accounting for all versions of the accident, Mr. Lamotte alone controlled the sequence of events that caused this collision. CP at 174-80, 201-202.

the pick-up truck on the passenger side. CP at 286-87. The passenger, Ronald Rashoff, died at the scene of the accident; Mr. Lamotte suffered significant injuries. CP at 121, 253. Mr. Lamotte has no recollection of the events leading up to the accident. CP at 267.

#### A. The Superior Court Grants Summary Judgment

Messrs. Lamotte and Rashoff filed separate lawsuits against DOT, which were consolidated. CP at 21. DOT filed a motion for summary judgment. CP at 305. In their initial response the plaintiffs, relying on the opinion of their engineering expert, Edward Stevens, alleged that DOT violated the signal warrants of the MUTCD by failing to install a traffic signal at the intersection prior to the accident. CP at 513. However, Mr. Stevens reached his opinion because he misinterpreted and incorrectly analyzed the traffic volume data, an error he later conceded. CP at 534, 596, 646-47, 684-86, 789-90. The trial judge concluded these miscalculations rendered his opinion inadmissible. CP at 643-44.

Recognizing this point was critical to the negligence claim, the trial court gave plaintiffs an opportunity to correct the flaws that rendered Mr. Stevens's analysis inadmissible. Mr. Rashoff submitted a supplemental brief (CP at 391) and declaration from Mr. Stevens (CP at 645). But Mr. Stevens was unable to correct his miscalculations. Plaintiffs, however, changed their legal position and argued that compliance with the

MUTCD was optional. CP at 394. The trial court disagreed, and on January 7, 2014, it issued a letter opinion that dismissed plaintiffs' lawsuits against DOT. At their request, the Court stayed the Rashoffs' negligence action against Mr. Lamotte and entered final judgment as to DOT under CR 54(b). CP at 746.

# B. The Court of Appeals Reversed Based On An Unsupported Conclusion That The Record Showed Some Evidence That Some Signal Warrants Were Met

On appeal, plaintiffs argued that the trial court erred in excluding Mr. Stevens' testimony. The Court of Appeals quoted from the trial judge's letter opinion where Judge Wickham stated that unless Mr. Stevens is able to correctly apply the MUTCD, his testimony would not be admissible. Slip op. at 6 quoting CP at 643.<sup>2</sup> Despite this unequivocal evidentiary ruling, the Court of Appeals stated in footnote 5 that the superior court never struck Mr. Stevens' testimony and, at Slip op. at 8-9, declined to address admissibility of Mr. Stevens' testimony based on its earlier faulty conclusion that the superior court never struck it. At the same time, the Court of Appeals recognized the erroneous analysis of the signal warrants done by Mr. Stevens. Slip op. at 5-6.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's grant of summary judgment based upon its conclusion that the plaintiffs raised a genuine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court mistakenly cited ER 701 in its letter opinion. However, the actual quote cited by Judge Wickham was taken directly from ER 702. Both the quote and the context make it clear the reference to ER 701 was a scrivener's error.

issue of material fact. Its ruling on this point claimed disputed evidence as to whether the MUTCD traffic signal warrants had been met and whether a traffic signal should have been installed. The ruling also cites one expert's opinion that the roadway was inherently dangerous because of the width of the lanes and the time it took to cross them. Slip op. at 12.

DOT argued that the MUTCD signal warrant criteria were mandatory and that if none of the signal warrant criteria were met, DOT was prohibited by law from putting in a signal warrant (see, e.g., RCW 47.36.020 directing DOT to comply with the provisions of the MUTCD). See, infra, 10.

The Court of Appeals did not address the mandatory nature of the MUTCD signal warrant criteria. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals relied on a totality of circumstances analysis that considered reports of past accidents and citizen requests for a traffic light, along with the unsupported conclusions of the plaintiffs' experts to create a genuine issue of fact as to whether DOT breached its duty to keep the intersection reasonably safe for ordinary travel. Slip op. at 11.

#### VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

While many provisions of the MUTCD are discretionary, the signal warrant criteria for the installation of a traffic signal or four-way stop are not. CP at 535, 594. These provisions are mandatory. The Court

of Appeals approach to reviewing this summary judgment ignored the proper legal framework for the claim and introduced a flawed analysis of the breach of duty that presents a significant question of public importance requiring this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# A. DOT Is Required By Law To Comply With The MUTCD Signal Warrants

The Legislature directed DOT and other transportation agencies to comply with the MUTCD. RCW 47.36.020 provides:

Traffic control signals.

The secretary of transportation shall adopt specifications for a uniform system of traffic control signals consistent with the provisions of this title for use upon public highways within this state. Such uniform system shall correlate with and so far as possible conform to the system current as approved by the American Association of State Highway Officials and as set out in the manual of uniform traffic control devices [MUTCD] for streets and highways.

(Emphasis added.) *See also* RCW 47.36.050, .110 (stop sign must conform to the MUTCD); RCW 47.36.053 (the placement and maintenance of traffic devices on highways must conform to the adopted provisions of the MUTCD); RCW 36.86.040 (counties are directed to conform to the MUTCD).

The MUTCD provides that: "A traffic control signal should not be installed unless one or more of the factors described in this chapter

are met." CP at 486, 535, 594; see App. 2.3 The trial judge correctly concluded there was no genuine dispute; none of the eight signal warrants were met at the intersection prior to the accident in this case. CP at 722, Rashoff, slip op. at 7. DOT could not have undertaken the "fix" proposed by plaintiffs without violating the law, and the legal duty it had to all motorists to reject modifications to the intersection that would make it less safe.

The eight signal warrants require a comprehensive evaluation of: traffic speed; average traffic volume and the corresponding gaps available for the disfavored traffic (e.g., those vehicles that are required to yield the right of way to cross traffic); the number and type of lanes on the respective roads; the crash experience at the intersection; and the intersection's relationship to other intersections, the highway network, school crossings, and pedestrian volume. CP at 464.

The signal warrants "define the minimum conditions under which installing traffic signals might be justified." CP at 126. The potential for increasing the frequency of crashes is so significant that the MUTCD warns transportation officials that "consideration should be given to providing alternatives to traffic control signals even if one or more of the signal warrants has been justified." CP at 126.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also U.S. Department of Transportation Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices (2003 ed.), <a href="http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/htm/2003/html-index.htm">http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/htm/2003/html-index.htm</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Warrant 7, Crash Experience: This Signal Warrant is "intended for application where the severity and frequency of crashes are the principal reasons to consider installing a

Tellingly, plaintiffs initially argued that DOT was statutorily required to comply with the MUTCD and was negligent for failing to do so here, relying on the erroneous conclusions of their experts that the signal warrants were met. CP at 513 ("The MUTCD has been adopted as law in Washington. . . . [DOT] must comply with the provisions of the MUTCD."). But after DOT exposed the errors made by plaintiffs' experts and established that the MUTCD warrants had not been met, plaintiffs argued that compliance with the MUTCD did not matter. CP at 674.

If DOT had installed a traffic signal when the signal warrants had not been met and the number of accidents had increased, as engineering research and experience shows it would, the persons involved in those accidents would have had strong liability claims against DOT because of its violation of mandatory provisions of the MUTCD. CP at 124, 163 (four-way stop would have resulted in high-speed, rear-end collisions); Kitt v. Yakima Cnty., 93 Wn.2d 670, 673-74, 611 P.2d 1234 (1980) (MUTCD is deemed to have the force of law). The Court of Appeals' decision should have focused on one narrow question—whether there was a genuine dispute of fact over whether any of the MUTCD signal warrants

traffic control signal." The MUTCD goes on to state that the need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds all of the following conditions are met:

A...Adequate trial of alternatives with satisfactory observance and enforcement has failed to reduce the crash frequency...."

App. 3; CP at 490-91 (emphasis added).

were met. If there was no genuine dispute, then DOT had no discretion to install a signal and summary judgment was proper.<sup>5</sup>

When a highway design liability claim is based upon a negligence theory that would have required a transportation agency to violate a mandatory, nondiscretionary provision of the MUTCD and RCW 47.36.020, summary judgment should be granted. The analysis of the Court of Appeals which reaches the opposite result warrants review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. Rather Than Focus on the Proper Framework Provided by the MUTCD Warrants, the Court Of Appeals Reversed Summary Judgment By Citing a Totality Of Circumstances Test in Conflict with the Mandatory, Nondiscretionary MUTCD Requirements

As previously noted, many provisions of the MUTCD are discretionary. Traffic signal warrant criteria are not. Unless one of the criteria has been met, transportation agencies are directed not to install a traffic signal, and that is because decades of engineering data, studies and analysis establish that when these minimum criteria are not met, the installation of a traffic signal increases the probability of crashes; i.e., it makes the road less safe. CP at 125, 533, 593.

The Court of Appeals, however, relied on "totality of circumstances" approach that imposes a standard of care that may neither

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See generally Part C, outlining how the Court of Appeals decision misunderstood the facts and misapplied the MUTCD signal warrant criteria.

reflect nor be consistent with the law and accepted engineering standards. By untethering this test from the mandatory engineering standards, the Court of Appeals transforms the "totality of circumstances" test into one that can be met by "any circumstance" alleged. It is the reversal of summary judgment based on evidence that is immaterial to the MUTCD warrants but relevant to a "totality of circumstances" that must be corrected.

While the role of discretionary engineering standards should be significant in determining the standard of care, the effect of mandatory MUTCD provisions are conclusive. The mandatory MUTCD provisions define what facts are material and what facts are immaterial when the alleged breach of duty is the government's failure to place a traffic signal.

#### As DOT's expert explained:

It is improper to expect or demand transportation agencies to risk the safety and lives of millions of drivers and abandon accepted traffic engineering principals to try and prevent a single driver from taking an unreasonable, dangerous risk that causes a terrible accident.

#### CP at 691-92.

The Court of Appeals error is shown when it compares DOT's argument to an argument made by the City of Seattle in Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010). Rashoff, slip op. at 10. The Chen decision is

distinguishable because it involved a discretionary application of the MUTCD. Chen dealt with the installation of a pedestrian island in a crosswalk. The installation was a discretionary safety measure under the MUTCD. As indicated by the facts in Chen: the City initially installed such a pedestrian island which prevented pedestrian accidents. It then later removed the pedestrian island after which pedestrian accidents, including the plaintiff's, resumed. A question of fact existed whether the City affirmatively made a safe road unsafe by removing the pedestrian island.

There is no case law in Washington addressing the situation presented here, where MUTCD standards contain a mandatory restriction on a transportation agency's action—the installation of a traffic signal, when none of the signal warrants were met.<sup>6</sup> Where the Legislature has directed DOT to comply with the MUTCD, RCW 47.36.020, DOT should not be held liable for failing to install a traffic signal when the MUTCD prohibited it from doing so and doing so would have made the road less safe.

# C. The Court of Appeals Misunderstood And Misapplied The MUTCD's Signal Warrant Criteria Erroneously Concluding

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