938065

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Mar 01, 2016, 10:46 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO.

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD C. RASHOFF, and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants/Plaintiffs.

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondents/Defendants.

BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Appellant/Plaintiff.

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Defendant.

APPELLANTS RASHOFF'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I.	INTRODUCTION				
II.	REST	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE			
III.	ARGUMENT				
	A.	Defendant State wants this Court to significantly narrow the scope of its duty to provide reasonably safe roads for the public.	7		
	B.	The State's MUTCD signal warrant analysis is contradictory.	12		
	C.	The MUTCD allows for the exercise of engineering judgment.	15		
IV.	CONCLUSION				

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Boeing v. State, 89 Wn.2d 443, 448, 572 P.2d 8 (1978)1
Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009)
Goodner vs. Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pac. RR Co., 61 Wn.2d 12, 17-18, 377 P.2d 231 (1962)10
Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 252, 44 P.3d 845 (2002)
Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005)
Ruff v. King County, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995) 11, 12
Sutton v. Snohomish, 11 Wash. 24, 39 Pac. 273 (1895)
Tanguma v. Yakima County, 18 Wn. App. 555, 563, 569 P.2d 1225 (1977)
Wuthrich v. King County, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 (2016)
Statutes
RCW 47.36.020
Other Authorities
WPI 140.01

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case does not involve any issues of substantial public interest that warrant review by this Court.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals correctly followed and applied the law as set forth in *Wuthrich v. King County*, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 (2016).<sup>2</sup> Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005) and Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010).

These cases make it clear that a plaintiff's burden is to show that the roadway in question was not reasonably safe.<sup>3</sup> Once the plaintiff makes this showing, the burden then shifts to the State to show that it fulfilled its duty to provide a reasonably safe road by making reasonable efforts to correct the hazardous condition.<sup>4</sup> Contrary to Defendant State's argument, a plaintiff does not have the burden of showing how the State should have corrected the hazardous condition. Instead, deciding how to remedy the hazard is the responsibility of the State.<sup>5</sup>

Despite the clear holdings of Wuthrich, Owen, and Chen, the State's Petition for Review focuses exclusively on a traffic signal as the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellant Lamotte joins in this Answer and the relief requested by Appellants Rashoff.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wuthrich was decided after the Court of Appeals decision in this case, but the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's analysis of the applicable law in Wuthrich.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wuthrich, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 at 6; Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 788; Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 900.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ibid.

sole solution for correcting the unsafe conditions at the SR 12/Williams Street intersection. But a traffic signal is just one option available to the State to address the hazard at this intersection. Another option available to the State would have been to lower the speed limit on SR 12 through Mossyrock, as the State has done on dozens of other state highways that pass through small towns. But again, the State has the responsibility for deciding how to correct such hazardous conditions, not the plaintiff.

Defendant State argues that the Court of Appeals erred by relying "on a totality of circumstances analysis that considered reports of past accidents and citizen requests for a traffic light..." This argument ignores this Court's decision two months ago in *Wuthrich v. King County*. In *Wuthrich*, this Court held that a totality of the circumstances analysis applies in highway safety cases like this:

Whether the roadway was reasonably safe and whether it was reasonable for the County to take (or not take) any corrective actions are questions of fact that must be answered in light of the totality of the circumstances. [Owen, 153 Wn.2d] at 788–790; Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 901.7

The fundamental flaw in Defendant State's argument is that it ignores the applicable duty. The State's common law duty is "to provide reasonably safe roads for the people of this state to drive upon." <sup>8</sup> In its Petition, the State attempts to define its duty solely in terms of MUTCD

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Petition for Review at 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Wuthrich, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 788.

traffic signal warrants.<sup>9</sup> But the State's common law duty to provide reasonably safe roads is not defined solely by the MUTCD.

In *Owen*, this Court explained that governmental entities are held to the same negligence standards as private individuals, and that liability for negligence "does not require a direct statutory violation, though a statute, regulation, or other positive enactment may help define the scope of the duty or the standard of care." The issue is whether the road was reasonably safe for ordinary travel, not whether an MUTCD traffic signal warrant was or was not met.<sup>11</sup>

It is well-settled that whether a roadway is reasonably safe is generally a question of fact that cannot be resolved on summary judgment.<sup>12</sup> Likewise, the adequacy of the corrective action taken by the government is generally a question of fact.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Petition for Review at p. 20 ("The court's analysis should have been limited to whether there was a genuine dispute over whether DOT had complied with the mandatory provisions of the MUTCD and RCW 47.36.020.").

<sup>10</sup> Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 787.

Throughout its Petition, the State argues that it did not have discretion to install a traffic signal at this intersection because the intersection did not satisfy MUTCD signal warrants. The State also repeatedly argues that because the intersection did not meet MUTCD requirements, the installation of a traffic signal would have rendered the intersection unsafe by increasing the frequency of crashes. Both of these arguments are belied by the State's actions following the subject collision at this intersection. As discussed *infra*, the State installed a traffic signal at the intersection in 2010 even though it now claims that the intersection did not meet MUTCD signal warrant requirements and that the installation of a traffic signal not warranted under the MUTCD would increase the risks of crashes at this intersection. Petition for Review at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Wuthrich, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 at p. 6; Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 788; Tanguma v. Yakima County, 18 Wn. App. 555, 563, 569 P.2d 1225 (1977) ("The question of whether a given condition is inherently dangerous is generally a matter upon which reasonable minds may differ and virtually always decided

Juries can and do consider other factors besides the MUTCD in determining whether or not a road is reasonably safe. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that it is for the jury to assess the extensive crash history at the subject intersection, the factors identified by Plaintiffs' experts as indicating that the intersection was inherently dangerous, the history of citizen complaints, admissions by WSDOT employees that the intersection met MUTCD warrants for a traffic signal, the fact that there are schools nearby, and the State's efforts to address the dangerous conditions at the intersection (flashing yellow and red lights and "Cross Traffic Does Not Stop" signs) and decide whether or not the State's corrective actions were adequate under all of the circumstances.<sup>14</sup>

### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a fatal crash at the intersection of State Route 12 and Williams Street in Mossyrock, Washington that claimed the life of 18-year-old Ryan Rashoff on December 8, 2009. Ryan was a passenger in a pickup truck driven by Ben Lamotte. <sup>15</sup> As Lamotte tried to cross SR 12 in a northerly direction, the pickup truck was hit on the passenger side by a westbound log truck on SR 12, killing Ryan and injuring Lamotte. <sup>16</sup>

after the fact, that is to say, in the course of a lawsuit.").

<sup>13</sup> Wuthrich, Slip Opinion No. 91555-5 at page 6; Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 788.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Owen, 153 Wn.2d at 789-790.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 337.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 338-339.

Numerous other collisions had occurred at this intersection. The SR 12/Williams Street intersection experienced 20 reported collisions between March 3, 2003 and January 16, 2009 (the last collision before the December 2009 Lamotte/Rashoff collision). These 20 collisions over a brief six-year period included three fatalities and 23 injuries. <sup>17</sup> Members of the Mossyrock community had in fact petitioned the State to address the hazardous conditions at the intersection following a similar collision involving another high school student in 2007. <sup>18</sup>

Documents produced by the State indicate that the State had determined that the intersection met MUTCD criteria for the installation of a traffic signal. Chad Hancock, the State's designated CR 30(b)(6) representative and WSDOT's Southwest Region Traffic Engineer, stated in a February 21, 2008 e-mail addressed to citizens of Mossyrock<sup>19</sup> that "[t]he intersection does meet 2 of the 8 warrants for a traffic signal." Similarly, a signal warrant analysis performed by the State a matter of days after the subject collision determined that MUTCD Warrant 7/Crash Experience was satisfied. Consistent with its recognition of the need for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 462-463, 481.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 357-358, CP 362, CP 417.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This email was sent 21 months *before* the subject collision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 341.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 664-666.

a traffic signal, the State in fact installed a signal within months after Ryan Rashoff was fatally injured at this intersection.

Both Ben Lamotte and Ryan's parents filed suit against the State of Washington for its negligence in failing to provide a reasonably safe intersection. On February 7, 2014, the trial court entered an order granting Defendant State of Washington's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing Plaintiffs' claims against the State. Plaintiffs then appealed the trial court's order and the Court of Appeals reversed.

On appeal, Defendant State argued that the undisputed evidence showed that the Williams Street/SR 12 intersection did not meet MUTCD criteria for installation of a traffic signal, and therefore, it did not breach any duty as a matter of law.<sup>22</sup> The court disagreed with the State's argument, noting that in Chen v. City of Seattle, supra, Division One rejected the same argument relied on by the State in this case.<sup>23</sup> The court also noted that the Plaintiffs had presented evidence similar to the evidence produced by the plaintiff in Chen "to show that WSDOT breached its duty to keep the intersections reasonably safe for ordinary travel, including evidence of past accidents at the intersection; requests by community members for the installation of a traffic signal; the e-mail from

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  Rashoff v. State, Slip Opinion No. 45919-1-II at p. 10 (2015).  $^{23}$  Ibid.

WSDOT's traffic engineer, Hancock, stating the intersection met two of eight warrants for a traffic signal and was on a priority list for the installation of a traffic signal; and the opinions of their experts, Stevens and Gill."<sup>24</sup> The court then concluded that this evidence "created an issue of material fact as to whether WSDOT breached its duty to keep the intersection reasonably safe for ordinary travel sufficient to withstand summary judgment."<sup>25</sup>

The State now asks this Court to dramatically alter the law in highway safety cases by limiting the scope of its duty to provide reasonably safe roads to complying with MUTCD provisions.

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. Defendant State wants this Court to significantly narrow the scope of its duty to provide reasonably safe roads for the public.

For more than a century, our courts have held that governmental entities have a common law duty "to exercise ordinary care in the [design] [construction] [maintenance] [repair] of [their] public [roads] to keep them in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel."<sup>26, 27</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id*. at page 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.* at page 12.

WPI 140.01. "Ordinary travel" means the foreseeable actions of drivers, including foreseeable negligence on the part of drivers. See, e.g., Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 252, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) (governmental entity "has a duty to exercise ordinary care to build and maintain its roadways in a reasonably safe manner for the foreseeable acts of those using the roadways"). Here, it was foreseeable that a driver in Mr. Lamotte's position could misjudge the speed and distance of an oncoming vehicle and the amount of time required to clear the intersection due to the width of the lanes of SR 12 at this location (there were left

In its Petition for Review, Defendant State asks this Court to radically change Washington's common law governing highway safety claims by redefining the scope of a governmental road authority's duty. According to Defendant State, its duty is defined solely by the MUTCD. But this is not the law. Defendant State does not cite a single case that defines a governmental entity's duty to provide a reasonably safe road as being defined solely by the MUTCD.

Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Railroad Co., supra, and Chen v. City of Seattle, supra, directly contradict the State's position. Both cases specifically reject the notion that the scope of a governmental road authority's duty to provide reasonably safe roads is defined solely by legislative enactments or the MUTCD. As explained in Chen, a breach of duty may be based on the totality of the surrounding circumstances:

The city argues that *Chen* can prevail only if she shows that a particular physical defect in the crosswalk itself rendered the crosswalk inherently dangerous or inherently misleading or if she shows that the city was in violation of a statute, ordinance, or regulation concerning maintenance of the crosswalk. The implication of the city's argument is that a trier of fact may not determine, based on the totality of the circumstances, that the city breached its duty of care unless one of these two conditions is satisfied. In effect, the city argues that the scope of its duty to Liu

turn lanes on SR 12 in addition to the through lanes) and the speed of traffic on SR 12. CP 442-443. In fact, a number of similar collisions had occurred at this intersection in the past, again most likely due to drivers on Williams Street misjudging the speed of traffic on SR 12 and the time needed to safely clear the intersection before traffic on SR 12 enters the intersection. CP 462-463.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> This has been the law of Washington for 120 years dating back to *Sutton v. Snohomish*, 11 Wash, 24, 39 Pac. 273 (1895).

extended only to eliminating actual physical defects or to taking action expressly required by a statute, ordinance, or regulation. The city is incorrect on both accounts.

. . .

[A] trier of fact may infer that the city breached the duty of care it owed to Liu based on the totality of the surrounding circumstances.<sup>28</sup>

As also explained in *Chen*, liability in roadway safety cases does not require evidence of a statutory violation or a violation of engineering standards or regulations:

The city is incorrect, however, in concluding that, because conditions triggering a mandatory duty to consider the installation of traffic signal were not met [under the MUTCD], it had no duty to consider installing such a signal in light of the actual conditions of the roadway. "Liability for negligence does not require a direct statutory violation, though a statute, regulation, or other positive enactment may help define the scope of a duty or the standard of care." *Owen*, 153 Wn.2d at 787, 108 P.3d 1220 (citing *Bauman v. Crawford*, 104 Wn.2d 241, 244-45, 704 P.2d 1181 (1985)).<sup>29</sup>

In *Owen*, this Court set forth a two-step analysis for determining whether a roadway was reasonably safe for ordinary travel:

[W]hether a condition is inherently dangerous or misleading is generally a question of fact. . . .

. . . .

If the roadway is inherently dangerous or misleading, then the trier of fact must determine the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 900-901.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 908.

adequacy of the corrective actions under all of the circumstances. *E.g., Goodner vs. Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pac. RR Co.*, 61 Wn.2d 12, 17-18, 377 P.2d 231 (1962). If the corrective actions are adequate, then the city has satisfied its duty to provide reasonably safe roads.<sup>30</sup>

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